Marquette University e-Publications@Marquette

Biological Sciences Faculty Research and Publications

Biological Sciences, Department of

5-1-2015

The Melanocortin-4 Receptor Integrates Circadian Light Cues and Metabolism

Deanna M. Arble Marquette University, deanna.arble@marquette.edu

Jenna Holland University of Cincinnati

Nickki Ottaway University of Cincinnati

Joyce Sorrell University of Cincinnati

Joshua W. Pressler University of Cincinnati

See next page for additional authors

Accepted version. *Endocrinology*, Vol. 156, No. 5, (May1, 2015): 1685–1691, DOI.© 2015 Oxford University Press. Used with permission.

Deanna M. Arble was affiliated with the University of Cincinnati at the time of publication.

Authors

Deanna M. Arble, Jenna Holland, Nickki Ottaway, Joyce Sorrell, Joshua W. Pressler, Rachel Morano, Stephen C. Woods, Randy J. Seeley, James P. Herman, Darleen A. Sandoval, and Diego Perez-Tilve

Marquette University

e-Publications@Marquette

Biology Faculty Research and Publications/College of Arts and Sciences

This paper is NOT THE PUBLISHED VERSION; but the author's final, peer-reviewed manuscript. The published version may be accessed by following the link in the citation below.

Endocrinology, Vol. 156, No. 5, (May, 2015): 1685-1691. <u>DOI</u>. This article is © Endocrine Society and permission has been granted for this version to appear in <u>e-Publications@Marquette</u>. Endocrine Society does not grant permission for this article to be further copied/distributed or hosted elsewhere without the express permission from Endocrine Society.

Contents

Abstract
Materials and Methods4
Animals4
Light protocols4
Automated phenotype analysis4
Twenty-four-hour fasting glucose levels4
Glucose tolerance test
Catheterization for hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps5
Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp5
Statistics
Results
Mc4r-deficient mice have amplified daily variations in baseline blood glucose and glucose tolerance5
Acute exposure to constant light reduces daily variations in blood glucose and improves glucose tolerance in KO mice without altering body weight or food intake
Improvement in glucose tolerance of Mc4r-deficient mice in LL is not due to obesity7
Long-term exposure to constant light improves glucose tolerance and suppresses weight gain in Mc4r- deficient mice

Constant light increases insulin-dependent glucose uptake in muscle of Mc4r-deficient mice	9
Exposure to other, nonentraining light cycles improves glucose tolerance in Mc4r-deficient but not WT mice	9
Reactivation of Mc4r in the PVN prevents LL-induced improvements in glucose tolerance	10
Discussion	10
Acknowledgments	12
Abbreviations	13
References	13

The Melanocortin-4 Receptor Integrates Circadian Light Cues and Metabolism

Deanna M. Arble

Departments of Internal Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Jenna Holland Departments of Internal Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Nickki Ottaway Departments of Internal Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Joyce Sorrell Departments of Internal Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Joshua W. Pressler Departments of Internal Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Rachel Morano Psychiatry, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Department of Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI Stephen C. Woods Psychiatry, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Department of Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI Randy J. Steely Departments of Internal Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Department of Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI James P. Herman Psychiatry, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH

Department of Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI

Darleen A. Sandoval

Departments of Internal Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Department of Surgery, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI

Diego Perez-Tilve

Departments of Internal Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH

Abstract

The melanocortin system directs diverse physiological functions from coat color to body weight homoeostasis. A commonality among melanocortin-mediated processes is that many animals modulate similar processes on a circannual basis in response to longer, summer days, suggesting an underlying link between circadian biology and the melanocortin system. Despite key neuroanatomical substrates shared by both circadian and melanocortin-signaling pathways, little is known about the relationship between the two. Here we identify a link between circadian disruption and the control of glucose homeostasis mediated through the melanocortin-4 receptor (Mc4r). Mc4r-deficient mice exhibit exaggerated circadian fluctuations in baseline blood glucose and glucose tolerance. Interestingly, exposure to lighting conditions that disrupt circadian rhythms improve their glucose tolerance. This improvement occurs through an increase in glucose clearance by skeletal muscle and is food intake and body weight independent. Restoring Mc4r expression to the paraventricular nucleus prevents the improvement in glucose tolerance, supporting a role for the paraventricular nucleus in the integration of circadian light cues and metabolism. Altogether these data suggest that Mc4r signaling plays a protective role in minimizing glucose fluctuations due to circadian rhythms and environmental light cues and demonstrate a previously undiscovered connection between circadian biology and glucose metabolism mediated through the melanocortin system.

The melanocortin system directs diverse physiological functions from coat color to body weight homoeostasis. A commonality among melanocortin-mediated processes is that many animals modulate such processes on a circannual basis in response to longer, summer days, suggesting an underlying link between circadian biology and the melanocortin system. A growing body of literature links biological rhythms to metabolism. Circannual (seasonal) rhythms of food intake, energy expenditure, and body weight are associated with day length (1). Circadian (daily) rhythms, which are controlled by photic-sensitive circuits in the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN), orchestrate metabolic processes that, when disrupted, can lead to the development of the metabolic syndrome (2–4). However, little is known of the mechanism(s) that link circadian light cues to metabolism.

Multiple nutrient and hormonal signals convey information about energy status to the brain through the melanocortin system, and in particular through the melanocortin-4 receptor (Mc4r), to regulate energy balance (5). Thus, Mc4r-deficient humans and rodents are hyperphagic and obese and have impaired glucose tolerance (6, 7). Mc4r may also be important in mediating information about circadian light cues. When light stimulates the retina, photic information is relayed via the retinohypothalamic tract to the SCN and onto key metabolic areas that express Mc4r such as the arcuate nucleus via the melanocortin transmitter, α -MSH (8), and the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) (9). The overlap between anatomical pathways and physiological effects raises the possibility that Mc4r may function as an integrator of circadian light cues with the control of energy balance. Here we provide data that support the conclusion that Mc4r integrates circadian light cues with glucose metabolism.

Materials and Methods

Animals

LoxTb*Mc4r* (stock number 006414; Jackson laboratory) knockout (KO) mice and wild-type littermate controls (WT) were ordered from Jackson laboratory and bred in-house. WT mice (C57BL/6J; stock number 000664) were ordered from the Jackson laboratory. *Ob/ob* mice (stock number 000632) were ordered from The Jackson Laboratory. *Sim1*-Cre mouse models were kindly provided by Dr Joel Elmquist (University of Texas Southwestern, Dallas, Texas) and bred in-house to obtain homozygous loxTbMc4r (KO–), which lack Mc4r expression globally, and homozygous loxTbMc4r mice carrying at least one *Sim1*-Cre allele (KO+) as well as *Sim1*-Cre WT littermates (WT+), as previously described (10). All mice were males unless otherwise mentioned in text. Mice were singly housed and fed an ad libitum standard chow diet (Teklad number 7002, 18% calories from fat, 3.1 kcal/g) unless otherwise mentioned. To create obese WT animals, singly housed mice were fed a 45% high-fat diet (Research Diets number D12451, 45% fat, 4.54 kcal/g). For all studies, groups were age matched but otherwise divided to ensure equal body weights among similar genotyped animals. The total number per experiment is noted in each experimental figure legend. The investigators were not blinded to the animals' genotype or light condition. All studies were approved by and performed according to the guidelines of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Cincinnati.

Light protocols

Mice were housed in a standard vivarium room with a minimum of 80 lux during the light period. Standard 12-hour light, 12-hour dark (LD) consisted of 12 hours of light followed by 12 hours of dark. Constant light (LL) occurred in a neighboring room with otherwise similar environmental conditions. Similarly, a 2L2D cycle was achieved by using repeated cycles of 2 hours of light followed by 2 hours of dark (2L2D).

Automated phenotype analysis

Animals were singly housed, maintained on the appropriate light-dark cycle, and placed into an automated system to measure data in increments of 5–45 minutes (Phenotyping Systems International Group). Activity counts (via beam break) and feeding patterns were measured simultaneously over the course of the 1–2 weeks. Data analysis began after animals had acclimated to the metabolic chambers for at least 48 hours. For consistency, the first 24 hours of data in the chamber or after a light switch were excluded from analysis to remove differences in habituation.

Twenty-four-hour fasting glucose levels

Animals were habituated to handling by 2+ weeks of at least twice a week gentle handling prior to testing. Animals were fasted for 12 hours (overnight) prior to the first blood glucose measurement at Zeitgeber time (ZT) 2. Blood glucose was measured by glucometer every 4 hours on each animal by tail clip and gentle handling. Animals remained fasting until all measures were complete (eg, ZT 22).

Glucose tolerance test

Animals were fasted for 6 hours prior to an ip injection of 25% dextrose at a dose of 8 μ l/g at ZT 6. Blood glucose was measured by tail clip and gentle handling by glucometer prior to glucose injection (time 0), and at 15, 30, 60, and 120 minutes after injection. Animals were excluded from analysis based on

preestablished criteria, eg, if blood glucose did not rise significantly over the 2-hour period, indicating a failed glucose injection.

Catheterization for hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps

After 2 weeks of LD or LL exposure, mice underwent surgery for the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp. Mice were catheterized in the left common carotid artery and right jugular vein as previously described (11). Immediately after the surgery, animals were given sc injections of buprenorphin (0.28 mg/kg Buprenex; Reckitt Benckiser Healthcare), meloxicam (0.25 mg/100 g body weight; Metacam), and 1 mL warm saline.

Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp

After 5–10 days of recovery from surgery, hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps were performed as previously described (11). On the day of the clamp procedure, mice were fasted for 4 hours. At time 0 (~10:00 am; ZT 4), a primed (2.5 μ Ci) continuous infusion (0.05 μ Ci) of [3-³H]glucose (PerkinElmer Life Sciences) was started and continued throughout the clamp. One hundred twenty minutes after the start of the [3-³H]glucose infusion, insulin was infused at a rate of 3 mU/kg \cdot min, and exogenous glucose was infused to maintain blood glucose levels between 130 and 150 mg/dL. A bolus of 50 μ L of 2-[¹⁴C]2- deoxyglucose ([¹⁴C]2-DG; 0.013 mCi) was infused into the jugular vein 40 minutes prior to the end of the clamp procedure to assess tissue-specific glucose uptake. Mice were euthanized with an injection of sodium pentobarbital and tissues collected. Plasma and tissues were stored at –80°C for analysis. Blood sampling, glucose turnover, and tissue-specific glucose uptake calculations were performed as previously described (12).

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 5.0 (GraphPad Software). Statistical significance was determined by unpaired Student's *t* test, one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison post hoc test, two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparison post hoc test, or a repeated-measures ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparison post hoc test as referenced in the text. Results were considered statistically significant when P < .05.

Results

Mc4r-deficient mice have amplified daily variations in baseline blood glucose and

glucose tolerance

Circadian variations in circulating glucose and glucose tolerance occur in both rodents and humans (13–16). In fasting conditions, WT mice maintained under a normal LD cycle demonstrate a rise in the fasting blood glucose levels at the end of the light phase followed by a fall at the end of the dark phase (Figure 1A) as previously shown (14–16). However, mice lacking Mc4r (hereafter KO) display an exaggerated fluctuation in daily fasting glucose compared with WT littermate controls (Figure 1A, P < .001).



Figure 1 Twenty-four-hour baseline fasting glucose in C57BL/6J and Mc4R-deficient mice housed in a standard light-dark (LD) cycle or continuous light exposure (LL). A, Baseline fasting glucose levels in WT C57BL/6J mice (WT; black symbols, n = 11) and Mc4R-deficient mice (KO; white symbols, n = 10) housed in a standard LD cycle (solid lines). B, Baseline fasting glucose levels in WT (black symbols, n = 10) and KO (white symbols, n = 10) mice housed in LL (dashed lines). Data are expressed as mean ± SEM and double plotted (repeated measures two way ANOVA). Asterisks indicate significant posttest differences: *, P < .05; **, P < .01; ***, P < .001.

In addition to fasting baseline glucose, daily variation in glucose tolerance was also significantly altered in the KO compared with the WT, with the KO having a significantly amplified fluctuation in glucose tolerance (Figure 2A, *P* < .01). Glucose tolerance and baseline fasting glucose was similar between the genotypes during the early morning hours (eg, ZT 1) but became significantly different toward the end of the light phase (eg, ZT 11) (Figure 2A, *P* < .01; Figure 2B, *P* < .001).



Figure 2 Daily variation in glucose tolerance of WT and KO mice. A, Glucose tolerance of both WT (black symbols) and KO (white symbols) are markedly improved at ZT 1 (dashed lines). Glucose tolerance is impaired at ZT 11 (solid lines) in both genotypes; however, KO mice have more of an impairment in glucose tolerance (area under the curve inset). Repeated-measures ANOVA was used for glucose tolerance test and an unpaired, two-sided *t* test for area under the curve (AUC). B, Baseline fasting glucose levels in WT (black) and KO (white) mice at ZT 1 and ZT 11 (cross-over design, two-way ANOVA, n = 21/group).

Acute exposure to constant light reduces daily variations in blood glucose and improves glucose tolerance in KO mice without altering body weight or food intake Lesioning the SCN or disrupting its function by exposing mice to constant light (17) will lead to a blunting of glucose rhythms and insulin sensitivity (14, 18). To determine how the KO mouse would respond to desynchronized conditions, we housed KO mice in constant light (LL). In contrast to the KO mice housed

under standard LD, KO mice housed in LL for a week displayed similar fasting glucose levels to WT mice (Figure 1B).

To investigate the role of Mc4r in the control of glucose homeostasis, we performed a glucose tolerance test. Although the glucose tolerance of WT mice was unaffected by 1 week of LL exposure (Figure 3A), KO mice had significantly improved glucose tolerance after LL (Figure 3B, P < .05). This effect occurred independently of body weight because the 1 week of LL exposure was insufficient to lead to body weight changes in KO mice (data not shown). A similar improvement in glucose tolerance was also observed in female KO mice (Supplemental Figure 1, P < .001).



Figure 3 Glucose tolerance of WT and KO mice after 1 week of LL (dashed line) within the automated phenotyping system or 1 week of LD exposure (solid line) in standard housing. A, WT mice have no significant change of glucose tolerance after 1 week of LL exposure [repeated measures, two way ANOVA for glucose tolerance test, nonsignificant F (1, 13) = 0.9842, P = .34, unpaired, two sided *t* test for area under the curve (AUC), nonsignificant (ns) P = .44; WT LD (n = 8), WT LL (n = 7)]. B, KO mice have significantly improved glucose tolerance after 1 week of LL exposure [repeated measures, two way ANOVA for glucose tolerance test, significant effect of the LL exposure, F (1, 14) = 6.201, P < .05, Bonferroni posttest, unpaired, two sided *t* test for area under the curve (AUC), P < .05; KO LD (n = 8); KO LL (n = 8)]. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM.

To assess the impact of constant light on food intake and activity, KO and WT mice were maintained for 1 week in LD and then changed to LL for an additional week. When maintained on LD, KO mice had significantly lower physical activity (Supplemental Figure 2A, P < .05) than WT, although both exhibited similar dark-light fluctuations. During LL, WT mice had significantly reduced daily locomotor activity (P < .001), whereas there was no change in KO mice. Food intake (Supplemental Figure 2B) did not differ between the 1-week LL and the 1-week LD conditions for either genotype.

Improvement in glucose tolerance of Mc4r-deficient mice in LL is not due to obesity

To determine whether the LL-induced improvement in glucose tolerance was due to the obese state of the KO mice as opposed to a specific loss of Mc4r signaling, we assessed the glucose tolerance of other obese models exposed to LL. LL did not affect glucose tolerance of diet-induced obese WT mice (<u>Supplemental Figure 3</u>) or genetically obese *ob/ob* mice (<u>Supplemental Figure 4</u>).

Long-term exposure to constant light improves glucose tolerance and suppresses weight gain in Mc4r-deficient mice

Although light therapy can lead to weight loss in obese humans (19), long-term LL combined with a highfat diet disrupts circadian rhythms and leads to weight gain in rodents (20). To test the effect of long term expose to LL on body weight and food intake in chow-fed animals, KO mice (8–12 wk old) and their WT littermates were maintained on LD or LL for 24 days. As expected, KO mice gained more weight than WT mice in both LD and LL. However, weight gain of KO mice was significantly attenuated in the LL relative to the LD condition (Table 1, P < .05). KO mice ate significantly more calories than WT mice in LD (P < .05) but not LL conditions. Within KO mice, there was no significant difference in caloric intake between LD and LL (Table 1). Similar to the acute LL exposure, long-term exposure to LL (eg, up to 3 wk) improves glucose tolerance, at least in part by increasing the insulin-dependent glucose uptake in the KO mice (Figure 4).



Figure 4 Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp in KO and WT littermates during LD or LL. A, Blood glucose levels were maintained at comparable levels for all groups. B, During steady-state conditions (final 30 min of the clamp),

the KO LD mice required significantly less glucose compared with all other groups to maintain euglycemia. Notably, KO LL had a similar glucose infusion rate as WT mice and required more glucose than KO LD. C, Glucose infusion rate in WT mice after 3 weeks of LD or LL. D, Glucose infusion rate in KO mice after 3 weeks of LD or LL. KO mice had a significantly higher rate of glucose infusion on LL than on LD (P < .05). E, During baseline conditions, there were no differences in endogenous glucose production (EGP). During the final 30 minutes, EGP was suppressed in all groups. F, During baseline conditions, there were no differences in glucose clearance. During the final 30 minutes, glucose clearance of WT LD and KO LL was significantly higher than in KO LD. G, There were no significant changes in EGP among groups. H, The insulin infusion significantly increased glucose clearance over baseline conditions in all groups except the KO LD. Moreover, KO LL mice increased their glucose clearance to a level similar to that of WT mice. I, [¹⁴C]2-DG uptake was significantly enhanced in KO LL compared with WT LL in the gastrocnemius and soleus muscles, with a trend toward increased uptake in heart and brain. (P < .05). *, P < .05; ***, P < .001 (repeated measures, two way ANOVA; KO LD, n = 7, except gastrocnemius, n = 6; WT LL, n = 6; WT LD, n = 8; KO LL, n = 8). Data are expressed as mean ± SEM.

	Light Cycle	WT	Mc4r Deficient	P Value
Change in body weight, g ± SEM	LD	2.83 ± 0.43 (n = 7)	9.84 ± 0.51 (n = 6)	<.001
	LL	2.27 ± 0.50 (n = 5)	6.97 ± 1.10 (n = 7)	<.001
Food intake, kcal ± SEM	LD	298.68 ± 21.58 (n = 7)	459.93 ± 23.21 (n = 6)	<.01
	LL	334.37 ± 17.15 (n = 5)	405.19 ± 40.03 (n = 8)	ns

Table 1 Effects of Constant Light in WT and Mc4r-Deficient Mice

Abbreviation: ns, not significant.

Constant light increases insulin-dependent glucose uptake in muscle of Mc4r-

deficient mice

We performed hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps in KO and WT littermate mice after 3 weeks of LD or LL exposure. Glucose was infused to achieve a stable blood glucose level of 150 mg/dL (Figure 4A). Consistent with the glucose tolerance tests, there was no difference in the glucose infusion rate in WT mice after LD or LL exposure (Figure 4, B and C). KO mice in LL required a significantly higher glucose infusion rate to achieve stable plasma glucose levels compared with KO mice in LD, indicating an increase in whole-body insulin sensitivity (Figure 4, B and D, P < .05). Constant light had no effect on endogenous glucose production (Supplemental Figure 5, A, C) but increased glucose clearance in KO but not WT mice (Supplemental Figure 5B and D, P < .05). This increase in clearance was associated with an increased ${}^{14}C-2-DG$ uptake in muscle (Supplemental Figure 5E, P < .05). These data suggest that the improved glucose tolerance by the KO in LL is due to an increase in insulin sensitivity at the level of the skeletal muscle.

Exposure to other, nonentraining light cycles improves glucose tolerance in Mc4rdeficient but not WT mice

To determine whether the changes in glucose homeostasis were specific to constant light exposure or whether they could be elicited using other circadian disruption protocols, we exposed mice to a nonentraining 4-hour day, or 2L2D cycle, for 10 days. Similar to what we observed during the LL

conditions, KO mice in 2L2D exhibited an improvement in glucose tolerance (<u>Supplemental Figure 6</u>, *P* < .05).

Reactivation of Mc4r in the PVN prevents LL-induced improvements in glucose tolerance

Lastly, we hypothesized that Mc4r expression in the PVN represented a key integration site for light and metabolic signaling. Using a *Sim1*-Cre reactivation model (10), we exposed 18- to 28-week-old loxTB Mc4r-deficient (eg, KO–), *Sim1*-Cre loxTB (eg, KO+), and age-matched wild-type littermate controls (*Sim1*-Cre WT; eg, WT+) to 2L2D for 2 weeks and then assessed glucose tolerance. As described (10), this model reactivates Mc4r expression within the PVN, supraoptic nucleus, and amygdala. Whereas 2L2D resulted in an improvement in glucose tolerance in the whole-body KO–, reactivation of Mc4r in the PVN (eg, KO+) severely attenuated the improvement (Figure 5).



Figure 5 Glucose tolerance of *Sim1*-Cre reactivation mice after 2 weeks of 2L2D exposure (dashed lines) or 2 weeks of the LD exposure (solid lines). A, Neither WT+ mice nor KO+ mice have significant change of glucose tolerance after 2 weeks of 2L2D exposure. However, KO- mice have a robust improvement in glucose tolerance. B, Area under the curve (AUC) calculations for glucose tolerance indicates that only KO- had a significant improvement in glucose metabolism after 2 weeks of 2L2D exposure (n = 7–10/group). Data are expressed as mean ± SEM.

Discussion

Central nervous system sensing of available energy and the time of day is key for the normal control of energy balance. Aberrant amounts of either available nutrients or light exposure disrupt metabolic control and exacerbate susceptibility to develop the metabolic syndrome. Our data provide evidence that the melanocortin system, classically associated to the control of nutrient availability, is also involved in regulating the circadian control of glucose homeostasis. Specifically, these data suggest that Mc4r signaling, including that within the PVN, plays a protective role in minimizing glucose fluctuations due to circadian rhythms and environmental light cues. Likewise, we propose that circadian fluctuations contribute to the glucose intolerance of Mc4r-deficient mice (see schematic in Figure 6).



Figure 6 Mechanistic summary. Top panel, During a normal LD cycle, Mc4r expression in the PVN attenuates the impact of the normal output from the SCN on glucose homeostasis. Loss of Mc4r expression prevents this attenuation, leading to an exaggerated impact of the light cues on baseline glucose and glucose tolerance. Bottom panel, During constant light, the normal output from the SCN that regulates baseline glucose and glucose tolerance is disrupted, leading to a marked improvement in glucose tolerance in Mc4r KO mice. AgRP, Agouti related protein; POMC, proopiomelanocortin.

Most organisms have evolved to use light cues, and yet relatively little is known about how circadian rhythms go on to affect the multitude of physiological processes that are necessary for daily survival. From an evolutionary perspective, there is a benefit to closely associating photic cues with the melanocortin system. By using environmental light as a cue, animals can anticipate and predict the onset of day or night as well as the changing of the seasons. Circadian and circannual cues such as these are important indicators for the avoidance of predators, reproductive success, and the efficient use of metabolic resources. Interestingly, the melanocortin system is ideally posed to regulate many of these circadian and light-associated characteristics: coat color (21) (associated with the Mc1r), meal entrainment (22) (Mc3r), fat storage and glucose tolerance (21) (Mc3r, Mc4r), and sexual function (21) (Mc4r). Indeed, light directly regulates some aspects of the melanocortin system, including receptors responsible for pigmentation (21) and is linked to others by indirect mechanisms (23, 24).

Circadian fluctuations in the control of glucose homeostasis have been well documented in rodents and humans (14, 15, 25–27). This control requires the molecular (15) and neuroanatomical integrity (28) of the central clock, and their disruption leads to impaired glucose control. The exaggerated circadian fluctuations in baseline blood glucose and glucose tolerance exhibited by mice lacking Mc4r signaling demonstrate that rhythms, and the central clock, may be subjected to restraint by other neural systems.

Our results demonstrate that circadian disruption, as caused by disruptive environmental light exposure, in combination with lack of Mc4r signaling, results in an improvement in glucose tolerance independent of changes in body weight and food intake. This selective regulation of glucose homeostasis in response to circadian disruption is surprising, given the well-known critical role of Mc4r in the control of feeding

and fat mass. These data point to the unique role of Mc4r in regulating glucose homeostasis in response to circadian disruption and suggest that other central and/or peripheral factors are important for the changes in body weight and feeding associated with circadian disruption (20, 29, 30).

Taken together, these results, and previous reports on the neuroanatomical distribution of Mc4r expression, suggest that an integration site for light and the melanocortin system is downstream of the SCN, in sites that include the PVN. Indeed, we found no evidence to support the possibility that behavioral rhythms are directly altered by Mc4r mutation, suggesting that the SCN itself is not the critical region involved in the glucose response to light cues mediated by Mc4r signaling. Moreover, the SCN of mice, rats, and humans do not express Mc4r (31–33). However, the SCN, through projections to the PVN, plays a significant role in the control of glucose homeostasis (34). Reactivating Mc4r in the PVN and restoration of a wild-type glucose regulation response supports the conclusion that the PVN is relatively more important than the SCN for our observed changes in glucose. However, Sim1-Credependent Mc4r reactivation is not specific to PVN (10), and therefore, a potential contribution of other brain regions coexpressing Sim1 and Mc4r to the circadian control of glucose cannot be excluded. Notably, Sim1-Cre Mc4r reactivation does not lead to improved glucose tolerance but instead nullifies the effect of the light exposure. These data suggest that although Mc4r in Sim1-expressing neurons, including those in the PVN, are critical for the modulation of glucose during circadian disruption, it is not principally involved in regulating other aspects of metabolism during circadian disruption (eg, feeding). The precise mechanism(s) by which Mc4r signaling controls glucose metabolism in response to circadian signals remains to be determined, although potential mechanisms could involve preautonomic neural circuits and/or neuroendocrine axes.

These results have important implications for humans. More and more, societies are running around the clock, leading to more people being active (and working) during the evening as well as experiencing increased light exposure at night. Mounting evidence suggests that these events can lead to circadian disruption, which is associated with obesity and cardiometabolic diseases (35, 36). However, it remains unclear exactly how circadian disruption translates into metabolic impairment. As others have noted (37), the combination of obesity and poor metabolic control leads to detrimental health, thus making it crucial to use a multiapproach strategy to fight disease. We expect that continued research focusing on how neural circuits, including the melanocortin system, and circadian light cues are connected can lead to novel approaches to treatment metabolic diseases such as obesity and diabetes.

Acknowledgments

We thank F. W. Turek (Northwestern University, Chicago, Illinois) and D. D'Alessio (University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, Ohio) for their comments on the draft of the manuscript and C. Raver and S. Amburgy for technical assistance.

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases Grants F32 DK097867–01 (to D.M.A.), R01 DK093848–01 (to R.J.S.), R01 DK082480–01 (to D.A.S.), and R01 DK077975 (to D.P.-T.). R.J.S. receives support from Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Ablaris Therapeutics, Inc, Novo Nordisk, Novartis, Angiochem, Eisai, Forest Pharmaceuticals, Givaudan, Zealand Pharmaceuticals, and Boehringer Ingelheim International. D.A.S. receives support from Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Novo Nordisk, and Boehringer Ingelheim International. D.P.-T. receives support from Calibrium Ltd.

Disclosure Summary: D.M.A., R.J.S., D.A.S., and D.P.-T. receive support from various sources. J.H., N.P., J.S., J.P., R.M., S.W., and J.H. have nothing to disclose.

Abbreviations [¹⁴C]2-DG 2-[¹⁴C]2-deoxyglucose

KO knockout

LD standard 12-hour light, 12-hour dark

2L2D repeated cycles of 2 hours of light followed by 2 hours of dark

LL constant light exposure

Mc4r melanocortin-4 receptor

PVN paraventricular nucleus

SCN suprachiasmatic nuclei

WT wild type

ZT Zeitgeber time.

References

- Loudon AS. Photoperiod and the regulation of annual and circannual cycles of food intake. *Proc Nutr Soc.* 1994; 53:495-507.
- Turek FW, Joshu C, Kohsaka A, et al. Obesity and metabolic syndrome in circadian Clock mutant mice. *Science*. 2005; 308:1043-1045.
- Arble DM, Bass J, Laposky AD, Vitaterna MH, Turek FW. Circadian timing of food intake contributes to weight gain. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2009; 17:2100-2102.
- Marcheva B, Ramsey KM, Buhr ED, et al. Disruption of the clock components CLOCK and BMAL1 leads to hypoinsulinaemia and diabetes. *Nature*. 2010;466:627-631.
- Garfield AS, Lam DD, Marston OJ, Przydzial MJ, Heisler LK. Role of central melanocortin pathways in energy homeostasis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*. 2009;20:203-215.
- De Jonghe BC, Hayes MR, Bence KK. Melanocortin control of energy balance: evidence from rodent models. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2011;68:2569-2588.
- Farooqi IS, O'Rahilly S. Monogenic human obesity syndromes. Recent Prog Horm Res. 2004;59:409-424.
- Guzman-Ruiz M, Saderi N, Cazarez-Marquez F, et al. The suprachiasmatic nucleus changes the daily activity of the arcuate nucleus alpha-MSH neurons in male rats. *Endocrinology*. 2014;155(2):525-535.
- Cailotto C, La Fleur SE, Van Heijningen C, et al. The suprachiasmatic nucleus controls the daily variation of plasma glucose via the autonomic output to the liver: are the clock genes involved? *Eur J Neurosci*. 2005;22:2531-2540.
- Balthasar N, Dalgaard LT, Lee CE, et al. Divergence of melanocortin pathways in the control of food intake and energy expenditure. *Cell.* 2005;123:493-505.
- Kim DH, Sandoval D, Reed JA, et al. The role of GM-CSF in adipose tissue inflammation. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*. 2008;295:E1038-E1046.

- Heppner KM, Piechowski CL, Muller A, et al. Both acyl and des-acyl ghrelin regulate adiposity and glucose metabolism via CNS ghrelin receptors. *Diabetes*. 2013;
- Van Cauter E, Polonsky KS, Scheen AJ. Roles of circadian rhythmicity and sleep in human glucose regulation. *Endocr Rev.* 1997;18:716-738.
- la Fleur SE, Kalsbeek A, Wortel J, Fekkes ML, Buijs RM. A daily rhythm in glucose tolerance: a role for the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Diabetes*. 2001;50:1237-1243.
- Shi SQ, Ansari TS, McGuinness OP, Wasserman DH, Johnson CH. Circadian disruption leads to insulin resistance and obesity. *Curr Biol.* 2013;23:372-381.
- Kalsbeek A, Strubbe JH. Circadian control of insulin secretion is independent of the temporal distribution of feeding. *Physiol Behav*. 1998;63:553-558.
- Ohta H, Yamazaki S, McMahon DG. Constant light desynchronizes mammalian clock neurons. *Nat Neurosci*. 2005 ;8 :267-269.
- Coomans CP, van den Berg SA, Houben T, et al. Detrimental effects of constant light exposure and highfat diet on circadian energy metabolism and insulin sensitivity. *FASEB J*. 2013;27:1721-1732.
- Danilenko KV, Mustafina SV, Pechenkina EA. Bright light for weight loss: results of a controlled crossover trial. *Obes Facts*. 2013;6:28-38.
- Fonken LK, Workman JL, Walton JC, et al. Light at night increases body mass by shifting the time of food intake. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA.* 2010;107:18664-18669.
- Gantz I, Fong TM. The melanocortin system. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2003;284:E468-E474.
- Sutton GM, Perez-Tilve D, Nogueiras R, et al. The melanocortin-3 receptor is required for entrainment to meal intake. *J Neurosci.* 2008;28:12946-12955.
- Adam CL, Moar KM, Logie TJ, et al. Photoperiod regulates growth, puberty and hypothalamic neuropeptide and receptor gene expression in female Siberian hamsters. *Endocrinology*. 2000;141:4349-4356.
- Watanobe H, Schioth HB, Izumi J. Pivotal roles of α-melanocyte-stimulating hormone and the melanocortin 4 receptor in leptin stimulation of prolactin secretion in rats. *J Neurochem.* 2003;85:338-347.
- Carroll KF, Nestel PJ. Diurnal variation in glucose tolerance and in insulin secretion in man. *Diabetes*. 1973;22:333-348.
- Aparicio NJ, Puchulu FE, Gagliardino JJ, et al. Circadian variation of the blood glucose, plasma insulin and human growth hormone levels in response to an oral glucose load in normal subjects. *Diabetes*. 1974;23:132-137.
- Van Cauter E, Blackman JD, Roland D, Spire JP, Refetoff S, Polonsky KS. Modulation of glucose regulation and insulin secretion by circadian rhythmicity and sleep. *J Clin Invest.* 1991;88:934-942.
- Coomans CP, van den Berg SA, Lucassen EA, et al. The suprachiasmatic nucleus controls circadian energy metabolism and hepatic insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes*. 2013;62:1102-1108.
- Kohsaka A, Laposky AD, Ramsey KM, et al. High-fat diet disrupts behavioral and molecular circadian rhythms in mice. *Cell Metab.* 2007;6:414-421.
- Arble DM, Ramsey KM, Bass J, Turek FW. Circadian disruption and metabolic disease: findings from animal models. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2010;24:785-800.
- Kishi T, Aschkenasi CJ, Lee CE, Mountjoy KG, Saper CB, Elmquist JK. Expression of melanocortin 4 receptor mRNA in the central nervous system of the rat. *J Comp Neurol.* 2003;457:213-235.
- Liu H, Kishi T, Roseberry AG, et al. Transgenic mice expressing green fluorescent protein under the control of the melanocortin-4 receptor promoter. *J Neurosci*. 2003;23:7143-7154.

- Siljee JE, Unmehopa UA, Kalsbeek A, Swaab DF, Fliers E, Alkemade A. Melanocortin 4 receptor distribution in the human hypothalamus. *Eur J Endocrinol.* 2013;168:361-369.
- Kalsbeek A, La Fleur S, Van Heijningen C, Buijs RM. Suprachiasmatic GABAergic inputs to the paraventricular nucleus control plasma glucose concentrations in the rat via sympathetic innervation of the liver. *J Neurosci*. 2004;24:7604-7613.
- Tenkanen L, Sjoblom T, Harma M. Joint effect of shift work and adverse life-style factors on the risk of coronary heart disease. *Scand J Work Environ Health.* 1998;24:351-357.
- Ruger M, Scheer FA. Effects of circadian disruption on the cardiometabolic system. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. 2009;10:245-260.
- Ahima RS, Lazar MA. Physiology. The health risk of obesity—better metrics imperative. *Science*. 2013;341:856-858.